UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, DC 20549

FORM 10-Q

x QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 For the quarterly period ended June 30, 2006

or

" TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 For the transition period from to

Commission File Number 000-51470

AtriCure, Inc.

(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware (State or other jurisdiction of

incorporation or organization)

6033 Schumacher Park Drive

West Chester, OH 45069

(Address of principal executive offices)

(513) 755-4100

(Registrant s telephone number, including area code)

(Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report)

34-1940305 (I.R.S. Employer

Identification No.)

Table of Contents

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. YES x NO "

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or a non-accelerated filer. See definition of accelerated filer and large accelerated filer in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large Accelerated Filer " Accelerated Filer " Non-accelerated Filer x

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act): YES " NO x

Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the issuer s classes of common stock, as of the latest practicable date.

Class Common Stock, \$.001 par value **Outstanding at August 1, 2006** 12,127,446

Table of Contents

	Page
PART I. <u>FINANCIAL INFORMATION</u>	
Item 1. Financial Statements	1
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of June 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005 Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2006 and 2005 Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Six Months Ended June 30, 2006 and 2005 Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements	1 2 3 4
Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	9
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	17
Item 4. Controls and Procedures	17
PART II. OTHER INFORMATION	
Item 1. Legal Proceedings	18
Item 1A. <u>Risk Factors</u>	19
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds	19
Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders	19
Item 6. <u>Exhibits</u>	20
Signatures	21
Certifications	

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

ATRICURE, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Unaudited)

	June 30,	December 31,
	2006	2005
Assets		
Current assets:		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 19,814,470	\$ 27,432,948
Short-term investments	5,174,928	6,369,234
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of \$317,938 and \$261,707 as of June 30, 2006		
and December 31, 2005, respectively	5,599,078	4,865,065
Inventories, net	3,055,668	2,135,143
Other current assets	498,818	845,330
Total current assets	34,142,962	41,647,720
Property and equipment, net	3,272,035	3,359,549
Long-term investments	1,790,741	
Intangible assets	879,778	986,778
Goodwill	3,840,837	3,840,837
Other assets	213,595	205,531
Total assets	\$ 44,139,948	\$ 50,040,415
Liabilities and shareholders equity		
Current liabilities:		
Accounts payable	\$ 1,354,903	\$ 1,243,365
Accrued liabilities	4,120,803	4,131,633
Current maturities of capital lease obligation	27,467	31,753
Current maturities of long-term debt	351,832	338,082
Total current liabilities	5,855,005	5,744,833
	06,400	20.055
Capital lease obligation	26,480	38,855
Long-term debt	865,727	1,045,150
Other liabilities	56,250	28,125
Shareholders equity: Common stock, \$0.001 par value, 90,000,000 shares authorized as of June 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005; 12,123,498 and 12,086,482 issued and outstanding as of June 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005,		
respectively	12,123	12,086
Additional paid-in capital	85,967,309	86,107,520
Unearned compensation	05,907,509	(599,591)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)	(7,444)	(399,391) 826
Accumulated deficit	(48,635,502)	(42,337,389)

Total shareholders equity	37,336,486	43,183,452
Total liabilities and shareholders equity	\$ 44,139,948	\$ 50,040,415

See notes to financial statements.

ATRICURE, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Unaudited)

	Three Months 1 2006	Ended June 30, 2005	Six Months E 2006	nded June 30, 2005
Revenues	\$ 9,649,038	\$ 7,730,420	\$ 18,285,846	\$ 15,228,179
Cost of revenues (a)	1,785,417	1,978,129	3,385,158	3,897,641
Gross profit	7,863,621	5,752,291	14,900,688	11,330,538
Operating expenses:				
Research and development expenses (a)	2,928,171	1,970,558	5,838,664	3,707,394
Selling, general and administrative expenses	8,488,970	5,143,086	15,985,068	10,395,184
Total operating expenses	11,417,141	7,113,644	21,823,732	14,102,578
Loss from operations	(3,553,520)	(1,361,353)	(6,923,044)	(2,772,040)
Preferred stock interest expense		(976,293)		(1,952,585)
Interest expense	(53,084)	(12,231)	(107,997)	(12,231)
Interest income	325,631	7,039	660,297	27,840
Other income	72,632		72,632	
Net loss available to common shareholders	\$ (3,208,341)	\$ (2,342,838)	\$ (6,298,112)	\$ (4,709,016)
Basic and diluted loss per share	\$ (0.26)	\$ (1.24)	\$ (0.52)	\$ (2.50)
Weighted average shares outstanding: Basic and diluted	12,118,032	1,888,079	12,107,116	1,884,837

(a) Includes the following expenses resulting from transactions with Enable Medical Corporation prior to the acquisition as of August 10, 2005:

Cost of revenues	\$	\$ 1,694,486	\$ \$ 3,315,956
Research and development expenses	\$	\$ 679,583	\$ \$ 1,062,218
See no	tes to financial statements.		

ATRICURE, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Unaudited)

	Six Months Er 2006	nded June 30, 2005	
Cash flows from operating activities:			
Net loss	\$ (6,298,112)	\$ (4,709,016)	
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:			
Depreciation	753,193	620,643	
Amortization of intangible assets	107,000		
Amortization of warrants	24,462	12,227	
Gain on disposal of equipment	(20,000)		
Stock compensation	468,927	344,785	
Preferred stock interest		1,952,585	
Changes in assets and liabilities:			
Accounts receivable	(714,012)	(684,574)	
Inventory	(920,526)	(465,366)	
Other current assets	346,511	(79,247)	
Accounts payable	51,039	470,506	
Accrued liabilities (a)	(69,041)	(310,072)	
Other non-current assets and liabilities (a)	54,950	128,523	
Net cash used in operating activities	(6,215,609)	(2,719,006)	
Cash flows from investing activities:			
Purchases of property & equipment	(643,486)	(884,023)	
Purchases of available-for-sale securities	(5,479,649)		
Maturities of available-for-sale securities	4,865,000		
Advance payments for acquisition of company		(500,000)	
Net cash used in investing activities	(1,258,135)	(1,384,023)	
Cash flow from financing activities:			
Payments on long-term debt	(165,672)		
Payments on capital lease obligations	(16,660)		
Proceeds from stock option exercises	37,598	18,532	
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities	(144,734)	18,532	
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents	(7,618,478)	(4,084,497)	
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of period	27,432,948	5,175,177	
Cash and cash equivalents - end of period	\$ 19,814,470	\$ 1,090,680	
Supplemental cash flow information:			
Cash paid for income taxes	\$ 51,534	\$	
Cash paid for interest	\$ 96,750	\$	
Non-cash investing and financing activities:			
Warrants issued in connection with line of credit	\$	\$ 216,083	
Proceeds from sale of equipment in accounts receivable	\$ 20,000	\$	
Purchases of property & equipment in accounts payable	\$ 60,499	\$	

Purchases of property & equipment in accrued liabilities \$ 58,2
--

(a) Cash flows from operating activities in 2005 excludes non-cash costs related to the initial public offering in other assets and accrued liabilities.

See notes to financial statements.

3

\$

ATRICURE, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Nature of the Business AtriCure, Inc. (the Company) was incorporated in the State of Delaware on October 31, 2000, as a spin-off of Enable Medical Corporation, to focus on the surgical treatment of atrial fibrillation. Atrial fibrillation (AF) is a rapid, irregular quivering of the upper chambers of the heart. The Company sells its medical devices to hospitals and medical clinics both in the United States of America and internationally. International sales were approximately \$1.3 million and \$0.6 million for the three months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and \$2.1 million and \$1.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Basis of Presentation The accompanying interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission. The accompanying interim financial statements are unaudited, but in the opinion of management, contain all the normal, recurring adjustments considered necessary to present fairly the financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the periods presented in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles applicable to interim periods. Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) have been omitted or condensed. The Company believes the disclosures herein are adequate to make the information presented not misleading. Results of operations are not necessarily indicative of the results expected for the full fiscal year or for any future period.

The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements of the Company included in the Company s annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 31, 2006.

Principles of Consolidation The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiary. Intercompany accounts and transactions are eliminated.

Short-Term and Long-Term Investments The Company places its investments primarily in U.S. Government securities, corporate notes and commercial paper. The Company classifies all investments as available-for-sale. Such investments are recorded at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses recorded as a separate component of stockholders equity.

Inventories, net Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) cost method and consist of the following:

		December 31,
	June 30, 2006	2005
Raw material	\$ 561,983	\$ 387,484
Work in process	1,241,327	708,676
Finished goods	1,405,819	1,297,540
Reserve for obsolescence	(153,461)	(258,557)
Inventories, net	\$ 3,055,668	\$ 2,135,143

Earnings (Loss) Per Share Basic net loss per share is computed by dividing net loss available to common shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Since the Company has experienced losses for all periods presented, net loss per share excludes the effect of 2,003,227 and 1,116,532 options outstanding at June 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, because such options are anti-dilutive. Therefore, the number of shares calculated for basic net loss per share is also used for the diluted net loss per share calculation. All share and per share amounts reflect the 1-for-3.8 reverse stock split that was effected on July 27, 2005.

Comprehensive Income (Loss) Comprehensive loss consisted of the following:

	Three Months l	Ended June 30,	Six Months Er	nded June 30,
	2006	2005	2006	2005
Net loss available to common shareholders	\$ (3,208,341)	\$ (2,342,838)	\$ (6,298,112)	\$ (4,709,016)
Unrealized losses on available-for-sale investments	(3,987)		(18,214)	
Unrealized gains from foreign currency translation	2,813		9,944	
Comprehensive loss	\$ (3,209,515)	\$ (2,342,838)	\$ (6,306,382)	\$ (4,709,016)

Stock-Based Compensation Expense On January 1, 2006, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment, (SFAS 123(R)), which requires the measurement and recognition of compensation expense for all share-based payment awards made to employees and directors, including employee stock options and employee stock purchases related to an employee stock purchase plan, based on estimated fair values. SFAS 123(R) supersedes the Company s previous accounting under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees (APB 25) for periods beginning in

fiscal 2006. In March 2005, the Securities and Exchange Commission issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107 (SAB 107) relating to SFAS 123(R). The Company has applied the provisions of SAB 107 in its adoption of SFAS 123(R).

The Company adopted SFAS 123(R) using the modified prospective transition method. In accordance with the modified prospective transition method, the Company s Consolidated Financial Statements for prior periods have not been restated to reflect, and do not include, the impact of SFAS 123(R). Stock-based compensation expense recognized under SFAS 123(R) for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 was \$254,677 and \$470,692, respectively, on a before and after tax basis, which consisted of stock-based compensation expense related to employee stock options. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2005, the Company incurred charges for stock compensation for employees for options issued with exercise prices below market value. The Company recorded charges of \$67,334 and \$125,484, which represents the portion pertaining to the three and six months ended June 30, 2005, respectively, based on the options vesting requirements.

The following table summarizes the pro forma net loss and loss per share as if the fair value method had been applied for the three and six months ended June 30, 2005:

(Dollars in thousands)	Three Months Ended June 30, 2005		Six Months Ended June 30, 2005		
Net loss available to common shareholders as reported in prior period	\$	(2,343)	\$	(4,709)	
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included in net loss available					
common shareholders, net of related tax effect		67		125	
Deduct: Stock-based employee compensation expense if the fair market method had					
been applied, net of related tax effects		(3)		(152)	
Pro forma net loss available to shareholders if the fair market method had been applied	\$	(2,279)	\$	(4,736)	
Net loss per common share:					
Basic and diluted-as reported	\$	(1.24)	\$	(2.50)	
Basic and diluted-pro forma	\$	(1.21)	\$	(2.51)	

SFAS 123(R) requires companies to estimate the fair value of share-based payment awards on the date of grant using an option-pricing model. The value of the portion of the award that is ultimately expected to vest is recognized as expense over the requisite service periods in the Company s Consolidated Statement of Operations. Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123(R), the Company accounted for stock-based awards to employees and directors using the intrinsic value method in accordance with APB 25 as allowed under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation (SFAS 123).

Stock-based compensation expense recognized during the period is based on the value of the portion of share-based payment awards that is ultimately expected to vest during the period. Stock-based compensation expense recognized in the Company s Consolidated Statement of Operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 included compensation expense for share-based payment awards granted prior to, but not yet vested as of, December 31, 2005 based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the pro forma provisions of SFAS 123 and compensation expense for the share-based payment awards granted subsequent to December 31, 2005 based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123(R). As stock-based compensation expense recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 is based on awards ultimately expected to vest, it has been reduced for estimated forfeitures. SFAS 123(R) requires forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. In the Company s pro forma information required under SFAS 123 for the periods prior to fiscal 2006, the Company accounted for forfeitures as they occurred. The cumulative effect of the change in accounting for forfeitures under SFAS 123(R) is not material to the consolidated financial statements.

The Company estimates the fair value of options on date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model (Black-Scholes model). The Company s determination of fair value of share-based payment awards on the date of grant using an option-pricing model is affected by the Company s stock price, as well as assumptions regarding a number of highly complex and subjective variables. These variables include, but are not limited to, the Company s expected stock price volatility over the term of the awards and actual and projected employee stock option exercise behaviors.

On November 10, 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued FASB Staff Position No. FAS 123(R)-3 Transition Election Related to Accounting for Tax Effects of Share-Based Payment Awards (the FASB Staff Position). The Company has elected to adopt the alternative transition method provided in the FASB Staff Position for calculating the tax effects of stock-based compensation pursuant to SFAS

Table of Contents

123(R). The alternative transition method includes simplified methods to establish the beginning balance of the additional paid-in capital pool (APIC pool) related to the tax effects of employee stock-based compensation and to determine the subsequent impact on the APIC pool and Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows of the tax effects of employee stock-based compensation awards that are outstanding upon adoption of SFAS 123(R).

Reclassification Certain amounts in the accompanying financial statements and notes thereto have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.

Use of Estimates The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Foreign Currency Translation The Company has a foreign sales subsidiary whose functional currency is reported in Euros. Assets and liabilities of this foreign subsidiary reported in the consolidated balance sheets have been translated at the current exchange rates. Revenue and expenses reported in the consolidated statements of operations have been translated at the average exchange rate for the year. Gains and losses on the translation of the Company s foreign subsidiary are reported as Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in the consolidated balance sheets.

2. INVESTMENTS

Investments consisted of the following:

	Cost Basis	Unrealized Gains				Fair Value
June 30, 2006						
US Government securities (maturities between 90 days and one year)	\$ 3,679,088	\$	5,670	\$	(8,905)	\$ 3,675,853
Corporate notes (maturities between 90 days and one year)	1,504,140				(5,065)	1,499,075
Total short-term investments	\$ 5,183,228	\$	5,670	\$	(13,970)	\$ 5,174,928
Medium-term notes (maturities more than one year)	\$ 1,004,047	\$		\$	(5,267)	\$ 998,780
Corporate notes (maturities more than one year)	795,782				(3,821)	791,961
Total long-term investments	\$ 1,799,829	\$		\$	(9,088)	\$ 1,790,741
Total investments	\$ 6,983,057	\$	5,670	\$	(23,058)	\$ 6,965,669
December 31, 2005						
Commercial paper (maturities between 90 days and one year)	\$ 2,428,992	\$	6,119	\$		\$ 2,435,111
US Government securities (maturities between 90 days and one year)	1,998,467				(2,217)	1,996,250
Corporate notes (maturities between 90 days and one year)	1,940,949				(3,076)	1,937,873
Total short-term investments	\$ 6,368,408	\$	6,119	\$	(5,293)	\$ 6,369,234
					,	

The Company has not experienced any significant realized gains or losses on its investments in the periods presented in the statements of operations.

3. ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following:

	June 30, 2006	December 31, 2005
Accrued commissions	\$ 1,030,544	\$ 987,599
Accrued bonus	383,468	600,813
Accrued vacation	521,081	469,049
Other accrued liabilities	2,185,710	2,074,172

Total accrued liabilities

4. EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS

As of June 30, 2006, the Company had two equity compensation plans: the 2001 Stock Option Plan (the 2001 Plan) and the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan (the 2005 Plan). The 2001 plan is no longer used for granting options.

Under the 2005 Plan, the Board of Directors may grant incentive stock options to employees and any parent or subsidiary s employees, and may grant nonstatutory stock options, stock purchase rights, restricted stock, stock appreciation rights, performance units or performance shares to employees, directors and consultants of the Company and any parent or subsidiary s employees, directors and consultants. The administrator (which is made up of the Company s board of directors or a committee of the board) has the power to determine the terms of any awards, including the exercise price of options, the number of shares subject to each award, the exercisability of the awards and the form of consideration.

Options granted under the 2001 and 2005 Plans generally expire 10 years from the date of grant (5 years for persons owning more than 10% of the voting power of all classes of stock) and generally vest at a rate of 25% on the first anniversary date and ratably each year or month thereafter. Certain options are exercisable upon grant and the underlying unvested shares are subject to the Company s repurchase right as stated in the applicable plan agreement.

Under the 2005 Plan, 2,461,264 shares of common stock were reserved for issuance as of June 30, 2006. In addition, the shares reserved for issuance under the 2005 plan include (a) shares reserved but unissued under the 2001 Plan as of August 10, 2005, (b) shares returned to the 2001 Plan as the result of termination of options or the repurchase of shares issued under such plan, and (c) annual increases in the number of shares available for issuance on the first day of each year equal to the lesser of:

3.25% of the outstanding shares of common stock on the first day of the fiscal year;

825,000 shares; or

an amount the Company s board may determine.

As of June 30, 2006, 3,276,138 shares of the Company s common stock were reserved for issuance under the Company s equity compensation plans.

Activity under the Plans was as follows:

	Stock Options Outstanding Weighted			anding
	Number of Shares Outstanding	E	verage xercise Price	Aggregate Intrinsic Value
Balance at December 31, 2004	1,064,294	\$	1.44	
Granted	688,082	\$	12.67	
Forfeited	(97,188)	\$	3.91	
Exercised	(44,293)	\$	0.95	
Balance at December 31, 2005	1,610,895	\$	6.10	
Granted	509,445	\$	9.19	
Forfeited	(80,097)	\$	10.04	
Exercised	(37,016)	\$	1.02	
Balance at June 30, 2006	2,003,227	\$	6.82	\$ 5,445,424
Exercisable - June 30, 2006	813,100			\$ 4,806,377

As of June 30, 2006, there were 1,272,911 shares available for future grants under the Plans.

The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the three months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005 was approximately \$42,000 and \$130,000, respectively, and was approximately \$247,000 and \$179,000 during the six months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Due to the Company s current tax position, no tax benefit was recognized as a result of option exercises for the three and six months June 30, 2006. Additionally, there was no impact on operating or financing activities in the Company s consolidated statement of cash flows for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 as a result of the exercise of stock options, other than the recognition of \$8,448 and \$37,598, respectively, in cash receipts as a result of stock option exercises.

Additional information regarding stock options outstanding as June 30, 2006 is as follows:

		Weighted	Exercisable at
Exercise Prices	Number Outstanding	Average Remaining Contractual Life (Years)	June 30, 2006
\$ 0.57	126,573	4.75	126,573
\$ 0.63	52,631	4.75	52,631
\$ 1.90	4,999	5.45	4,999
\$ 3.80	5,262	5.58	5,262
\$ 1.33	399,534	6.26	374,586
\$ 1.52	230,653	8.18	175,261
\$ 2.09	22,630	7.93	11,749
\$ 2.66	10,577	8.10	5,035
\$ 3.23	28,934	8.33	13,491
\$11.29	96,775	8.76	30,156
\$11.63	16,664	8.77	6,190
\$12.35	29,599	8.95	7,167

\$12.00	90,695	9.10	
\$13.89	107,812	9.21	
\$12.10	3,944	9.37	
\$13.18	266,750	9.44	
\$11.06	97,000	9.62	
\$ 9.37	227,200	9.78	
\$ 7.99	184,995	8.13	
	2,003,227		813,100

The exercise price per share of each option is equal to the fair market value of the underlying share on the date of grant. For options granted prior to the Company s initial public offering, the board determined the fair market value based on a multiple of revenue reduced by a factor due to the illiquidity of the options in a private company with no assurances of a public market.

Valuation and Expense Information under FAS 123(R)

On January 1, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS 123(R), which requires the measurement and recognition of compensation expense for all share-based payment awards made to the Company s employees and directors based on fair values. The following table summarizes stock-based compensation expense related to employee stock options under SFAS 123(R), which was allocated as follows:

	 ree Months Ended ne 30, 2006	~~~	x Months Ended ne 30, 2006
Cost of revenue	\$ 8,914	\$	17,892
Research and development	35,909		70,620
Selling, general and administrative	209,854		382,180
Total stock-based compensation expense related to employee stock options, net of tax	\$ 254,677	\$	470,692
Impact on reported basic and diluted loss per share	\$ 0.02	\$	0.04

The total compensation expense related to non-vested stock option awards not yet recognized is \$3,387,824. The weighted average period over which this compensation expense is expected to be recognized is 3.4 years.

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2005, the Company incurred a charge for stock compensation for employees for options issued with exercise prices below market value. The Company recorded a charge of \$67,334 and \$125,484 based on the options vesting requirements for the three and six months ended June 30, 2005, respectively.

In calculating the compensation costs under SFAS 123 and SFAS 123(R), the fair value of the options is estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes model considering the following assumptions:

	Three months	Three months ended June 30,		nded June 30,
	2006	2005	2006	2005
Risk free interest rates	1.00% to 5.14%	1.00% to 3.75%	1.00% to 5.14%	1.00% to 3.75%
Expected lives (years)	6	4	6	4
Expected volatility	38.06%	0.00%	38.06%	0.00%
Dividend yield	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%

The risk-free interest rate assumption is based upon the U.S. treasury yield curve at the time of grant.

Due to the Company's limited trading history, the Company has chosen to use the simplified method for estimating the expected lives of options as allowed under the Securities and Exchange Commission issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107 (SAB 107). Under this approach, the expected lives were calculated by taking the average of the vesting term and the original contract term.

Due to the Company s limited trading history, the Company used the implied volatility of a group of comparable companies, looking at both short and long-dated options in determining the Company s volatility.

Based on the assumptions noted above, the weighted average fair values of the options granted in the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005 were as follows:

	Three Months Ended		hs Six Months Ended	
	Jun	e 30,	Jun	e 30,
	2006	2005	2006	2005
Weighted average fair value of options granted	\$ 3.98	\$ 3.06	\$4.16	\$ 3.01

Non-Employee Stock Compensation The Company has issued nonstatutory common stock options to consultants to purchase shares of common stock. Such options vest over a service period ranging from immediately to four years. The fair value, which is subject to adjustment at each vesting date based upon the fair value of the Company s common stock, was determined using the Black-Scholes model with the following weighted average assumptions: contractual life of ten years; volatility of 38.06%; risk-free interest rate ranging from 1% to 5.14% and no dividends during the expected term. The values attributable to these options have been amortized over the service period on a graded vesting method and the vested portion of these options was re-measured at each vesting date.

Stock compensation income (expense) with respect to non-employee awards totaled approximately \$(17,000) and \$(108,000) for the three months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and totaled approximately \$2,000 and \$219,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

5. SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

The Company s system and devices are developed and marketed to a broad base of hospitals in the United States and internationally. Management considers all such sales to be part of a single operating segment in accordance with SFAS No. 131, Disclosure about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information.

Geographic revenue was as follows:

	Three Mor			
	June 2006	e 30, 2005	Six Months E 2006	nded June 30, 2005
United States	\$ 8,385,099	\$ 7,176,521	\$ 16,192,578	\$ 13,747,387
International	1,263,939	553,899	2,093,268	1,480,792
Total	\$ 9,649,038	\$7,730,420	\$ 18,285,846	\$ 15,228,179

6. RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In February 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 155, Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments-an amendment of FASB Statements No. 133 and 140 (SFAS 155). SFAS 155 amends SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities and SFAS 140 Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities. The provisions of SFAS 155 are effective for financial instruments acquired, issued, or subject to a remeasurement event occurring after the beginning of an entity s first fiscal year that begins after September 15, 2006. The adoption of SFAS No. 155 is not expected to have a material impact on the Company s financial statements.

In July 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48 (FIN 48), Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes which prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement process for recording in the financial statements uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. Additionally, FIN 48 provides criteria for subsequently recognizing, derecognizing and measuring changes in uncertain tax positions and requires expanded disclosure with respect to the uncertainty of income taxes. The accounting provisions of FIN 48 will be effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2007 with the cumulative effect of the change in accounting principle recorded as an adjustment

Table of Contents

to opening retained earnings. The Company is in the process of determining the effect, if any, the adoption of FIN 48 will have on its financial statements.

7. AGREEMENT WITH CLEVELAND CLINIC

On July 18, 2006, the Company entered into an Agreement, effective as of June 6, 2005, with The Cleveland Clinic relating to the Company s rights and obligations with respect to the publicly announced grants from the State of Ohio for, among other things, the creation of an Atrial Fibrillation Innovation Center.

Pursuant to the terms of the Agreement, the Company is required to supply personnel and materials to accomplish certain research-related activities in connection with the grant and, over a three-year period, the Company will receive up to a total of approximately \$0.9 million for personnel and materials and The Cleveland Clinic will acquire up to approximately \$2.4 million in capital equipment for the Company s use in support of its performance of the Agreement. Over the same three-year period, the Company is required to expend up to approximately \$7.7 million for operating expenses and up to approximately \$4.8 million for capital expenses at its facility in support of the Agreement, which amounts the Company believes represent ordinary course expenditures that it would have otherwise anticipated making. Under the terms of the Agreement the Company may be required to spend up to \$2.7 million in the first year, \$4.4 million in the second year and \$5.4 million in the third year.

The terms of the Agreement specify the division of ownership of intellectual property developed in the performance of the Agreement and provide, among other things, that the Company will own all intellectual property it develops alone and certain intellectual property that is jointly developed and it will have the option to license certain intellectual property that is owned by The Cleveland Clinic and developed in the performance of the Agreement. Additionally, the Agreement terminates on December 6, 2008. However, the Company and The Cleveland Clinic may terminate the Agreement at any time by giving 30 days prior written notice.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the accompanying consolidated financial statements and notes thereto contained in Item 1 of Part I of this Form 10-Q, and our audited financial statements and notes thereto as of and for the year ended December 31, 2005 included in our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 31, 2006, to provide an understanding of our results of operations, financial condition, and cash flows.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Form 10-Q, including the sections titled Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and Risk Factors, contains forward-looking statements regarding our future performance. All forward-looking information is inherently uncertain and actual results may differ materially from assumptions, estimates or expectations reflected or contained in the forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including those set forth under Risk Factors and elsewhere in this quarterly report on Form 10-Q. Forward-looking statements convey our current expectations or forecasts of future events. All statements contained in this Form 10-Q other than statements of historical fact are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements include statements regarding our future financial position, business strategy, budgets, projected costs, plans and objectives of management for future operations. The words may, continue, estimate. intend. plan. believe, project, expect, anticipate and similar expressions may identify forward-looking statements, but the absence of these words do will, not necessarily mean that a statement is not forward-looking. With respect to the forward-looking statements, we claim the protection of the safe harbor for forward-looking statements contained in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.

These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this Form 10-Q. Unless required by law, we undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements to reflect new information or future events or otherwise.

Overview

We develop, manufacture and sell innovative surgical devices designed to create precise lesions, or scars, in cardiac and soft tissues. Our primary product lines are our AtriCure bipolar ablation systems, which accounted for a total of 83% and 94% of our revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Our Isolator bipolar ablation system for open procedures consists of a compact power generator known as an ablation sensing unit, or ASU and several uniquely designed disposable ablation clamps that connect to the ASU, including our new Isolator Transpolar open clamp that was released in July 2006 and is specifically designed for open surgical procedures. Our Isolator bipolar ablation system for minimally invasive procedures consists of an ASU, a Wolf

dissector and several uniquely designed disposable ablation clamps, including two newly developed Isolator endoscopic ablation clamps that are specifically designed for use in minimally invasive procedures. Medical journals have described the adoption by leading cardiothoracic surgeons of our Isolator bipolar ablation system for open procedures as a standard treatment alternative during open-heart surgical procedures to safely, rapidly and reliably create lesions in cardiac tissue to block the abnormal electrical impulses that cause atrial fibrillation, or AF, a rapid, irregular quivering of the upper chambers of the heart. Cardiothoracic surgeons have used our bipolar ablation systems to treat AF in over 28,500 patients since January 2003. We believe that our Isolator bipolar ablation system for open procedures is currently the market leader in the surgical treatment of AF during open-heart surgical procedures and surgeons have used our Isolator bipolar ablation system for minimally invasive procedures as a minimally invasive sole-therapy treatment for AF, which is performed on patients who are not undergoing a separate open-heart procedure, on over 1,100 patients. We anticipate that substantially all of our sales for the foreseeable future will relate to the AtriCure bipolar ablation systems for the treatment of AF.

Our Isolator Transpolar Pen system consists of the ASU, a temporary pacing, sensing, stimulating and recording unit, and a disposable pen-shaped handpiece. In July 2006, our Pen system received FDA 510(k) approval for temporary pacing, sensing, stimulating, and recording during the evaluation of cardiac arrhythmias in addition to its currently FDA-cleared use for the ablation of cardiac tissues. Our Pen system is the only bipolar radiofrequency device that is cleared for this broad range of indications and allows physicians the capability of identifying potential trigger areas on the heart that could cause cardiac arrhythmias. Additionally, physicians may ablate these targeted cardiac triggers and directly evaluate the effectiveness of the ablation, all with the same device.

From our inception in November 2000 through the first half of 2002, our operations consisted primarily of development-stage activities, including the development of the AtriCure bipolar ablation systems, raising capital, obtaining product clearances, conducting product testing and evaluations, and recruiting personnel. After limited sales of our system in 2002, we commenced the general commercial release of our first bipolar ablation system, our Isolator bipolar ablation system for open procedure, in January 2003.

We currently sell our bipolar ablation systems to customers in the United States primarily through our direct sales force. We also sell our systems outside of the United States, primarily in Asia, Europe, South America, Canada and the Middle East, through distributors who pay us in U.S. dollars with the exception of Europe. In December 2005, we formed AtriCure Europe BV, our wholly-owned subsidiary incorporated in the Netherlands that distributes and sells our products throughout Europe to customers who pay us in Euros. Our sales outside of the United States constituted approximately 11.4% and 9.7% of our revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively. We expect international sales to be relatively constant as a percentage of sales for the foreseeable future. We had a total of 166 employees as of June 30, 2006.

Our future growth will depend on our ability to generate sales of AtriCure bipolar ablation systems through increasing acceptance by the medical community of our systems as standard treatment alternatives for the surgical treatment of AF. Acceptance of our bipolar ablation systems is dependent upon, among other factors, awareness and education of the medical community about the surgical treatment of AF, in general, and the safety and effectiveness of the AtriCure bipolar ablation systems, in particular.

Our bipolar ablation systems for open and minimally invasive procedures have been cleared by the FDA for the ablation and coagulation of soft tissues during certain non-cardiac-related surgical procedures, but neither of these systems has been cleared or approved in the United States for the ablation of cardiac tissue. We have received FDA clearance for our Pen system for cardiac tissue ablation and for temporary pacing, sensing, stimulating, and recording during the evaluation of cardiac arrhythmias. As such, we may promote our Pen system to doctors and provide education and training on the use of this system for those uses. However, other than the Pen s use for temporary pacing, sensing, stimulating, and recording during the evaluation of cardiac arrhythmias, we do not believe that any of our AtriCure bipolar ablation systems are currently being used for their FDA-cleared indications and, accordingly, substantially all of our revenue is currently generated through the non-FDA-approved, or off-label, use of our systems for the treatment of AF. None of our bipolar ablation systems have been approved by the FDA for the treatment of AF. While the FDA does not prevent doctors from using a product on an off-label basis, we cannot legally market a product for an off-label use. Because the AtriCure bipolar ablation systems are currently our only significant products, the sustainability of our current operations, as well as our future viability, is dependent upon the continuation of sales of our systems. We believe that sole-therapy minimally invasive treatment for AF represents the largest growth opportunity for us. If this market fails to develop, or the AtriCure bipolar ablation

system is not widely adopted for use in this market, we may not achieve greater revenue or become profitable. In order to establish the minimally invasive sole-therapy AF treatment market, the current referral practices of physicians must change.

After conducting necessary clinical trials, we intend to seek FDA approval as early as 2010 for the use of one or more of our systems to treat AF, which we view as our market opportunity. If lack of FDA clearance or approval of our systems for the treatment of AF were to prevent sales of our systems, not only would we no longer receive revenue from the sale of our systems, but we also would require significant financing to conduct clinical trials and to sustain our operations until such time as sales could resume. We cannot assure you that we can obtain these FDA approvals, that we would have, or could raise, sufficient financial resources to sustain our operations pending FDA approval, or that, if and when the required approvals are obtained, there will be a market for any of our bipolar ablation systems. In July of this year, the FDA conducted an inspection of the conduct of our clinical studies and a quality inspection of the manufacture of our products. The FDA informed us that it was inspecting us for cause, based on articles that had appeared in The Wall Street Journal during December 2005 and February 2006. At the close of these inspections, the FDA advised us that it would not be issuing us a Form 483 and would not be issuing any formal inspectional observations. We expect to receive a written report from the FDA, which we believe will include recommendations for continuous improvements.

Our costs and expenses consist of cost of revenue, research and development expenses and selling, general and administrative expenses. Cost of revenue consists principally of the cost of purchasing materials and manufacturing our products. Research and development expenses consist principally of expenses incurred with respect to internal and external research and development activities and the conduct of clinical trials. We are conducting the FDA-approved RESTORE-SR clinical trial relating to the use of the Isolator bipolar ablation system for open procedures to treat AF during open-heart surgery. A total of 34 patients have been enrolled in the clinical trial as of June 30, 2006, approximately 15% of the patients required for this multicenter, 226-patient clinical trial. We are also conducting the FDA-approved RESTORE-SR II clinical study to evaluate the feasibility of using our Isolator minimally invasive bipolar ablation system as a minimally invasive sole-therapy treatment for AF. This feasibility study has completed enrollment and treatment of the necessary 25 patients at 5 leading US centers as of May 31, 2006. Selling, general and administrative expenses consist principally of costs associated with our sales, marketing and administrative functions, accounting and legal fees and educational grants to medical institutions.

Results of Operations

Three months ended June 30, 2006 compared to June 30, 2005

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, our results of operations expressed as dollar amounts (in thousands) and as percentages of total revenue:

	Three Months Ended June 30, 2006 2005			05
		% of		% of
(Dollars in thousands)	Amount	Revenue	Amount	Revenue
Revenues	\$ 9,649	100%	\$ 7,730	100%
Cost of revenues	1,785	18%	1,978	26%
Gross profit	7,864	82%	5,752	74%
Operating expenses: Research and development expenses	2,928	31%	1,971	25%
Selling, general and administrative expenses	8,489	88%	5,143	67%
Total operating expenses	11,417	119%	7,114	92%
Loss from operations	(3,553)	(37)%	(1,362)	(18)%
Preferred stock interest expense	0	0%	(976)	(12)%
Interest income (expense), net	272	3%	(5)	0%
Other income	73	1%	0	0%
Net loss available to common shareholders	\$ (3,208)	(33)%	\$ (2,343)	(30)%

Revenues. Total revenue increased approximately \$1.9 million, or 25%, from approximately \$7.7 million for the three months ended June 30, 2005 to approximately \$9.6 million for the three months ended June 30, 2006. The increase was attributable to an increase of approximately 37% in the total number of disposable products sold domestically and internationally. This volume increase in disposable products sold contributed approximately \$2.7 million to the increase in revenues. While our average domestic selling price for disposable products remained relatively flat for the three months ended June 30, 2006 over the three months ended June 30, 2005, the increase in lower priced international units sold as a percentage of total units sold resulted in a decline in our overall average selling price for the three months ended June 30, 2006 over the three months ended June 30, 2006. The decline in our worldwide average selling price partially offset the overall revenue increase by approximately \$0.8 million.

Cost of revenues. Cost of revenues decreased approximately \$0.2 million, from approximately \$2.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2005 to approximately \$1.8 million for the three months ended June 30, 2006 due to the approximately 35% decrease in our average cost per disposable unit in the three months ended June 30, 2006 as compared to the three months ended June 30, 2005. The decrease in our average cost per unit is a direct result of our third quarter 2005 acquisition of Enable Medical Corporation (Enable), the manufacturer of our disposable products, partially offset by an increase in the total number of units sold. As a percentage of revenue, cost of revenue declined from approximately 26% for the three months ended June 30, 2005 to approximately 18% for the three months ended June 30, 2006.

```
11
```

Research and development expenses. Research and development expenses increased approximately \$0.9 million, from approximately \$2.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2005 to approximately \$2.9 million for the three months ended June 30, 2006. The increase was primarily attributable to the addition of 16 full-time research and development personnel, including 13 former Enable employees, the expansion of our product development activities to increase our product offerings, and the expansion of our clinical trial activities. Our product development activities include projects to extend and improve the AtriCure bipolar ablation systems, develop our new left atrial appendage exclusion device, create new enabling devices and ablation tools and research for new technologies. As a percentage of total revenue, research and development expenses increased from approximately 25% for the three months ended June 30, 2005 to approximately 31% for the three months ended June 30, 2006. We anticipate a continued increase in overall research and development spending as a percentage of revenue for the remainder of 2006.

Selling, general and administrative expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses increased approximately \$3.4 million, from approximately \$5.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2005 to approximately \$8.5 million for the three months ended June 30, 2006. The increase was primarily attributable to increases in headcount-related charges of approximately \$1.8 million, increased marketing expenses of approximately \$0.3 million, increases in unrestricted grants and training expenditures of approximately \$0.2 million and increases in general corporate expenditures of approximately \$1.1 million. The increase in headcount-related charges was primarily attributable to the acquisition of Enable and the expansion of our sales and marketing organizations. As a percentage of total revenue, selling, general and administrative expenses increased from approximately 67% for the three months ended June 30, 2005 to approximately 88% for the three months ended June 30, 2006. Selling, general and administrative costs are expected to continue to increase in absolute dollars for the remainder of 2006 as a result of increased costs associated with sales and marketing efforts and the increase in costs associated with being a public company.

Preferred stock interest expense. Preferred stock interest expense decreased to zero from approximately \$1.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2005. The decrease was attributable to the conversion of all shares of preferred stock into common stock upon the closing of our initial public offering on August 10, 2005.

Interest income (expense), net. Interest income (expense), net increased approximately \$277,000, from approximately (\$5,000) for the three months ended June 30, 2005 to approximately \$272,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2006, due to the increase in cash and cash equivalents resulting from the proceeds of our August 2005 initial public offering. The increase was partially offset by the interest expense incurred as a result of an increase in our long-term debt.

Six months ended June 30, 2006 compared to June 30, 2005

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, our results of operations expressed as dollar amounts (in thousands) and as percentages of total revenue:

	Six Months Ended June 30, 2006 2005			n-
	200	96 % of	20	05 % of
(Dollars in thousands)	Amount	Revenue	Amount	Revenue
Revenues	\$ 18,286	100%	\$ 15,228	100%
Cost of revenues	3,385	19%	3,898	26%
Gross profit	14,901	81%	11,330	74%
Operating expenses:				
Research and development expenses	5,839	32%	3,707	24%
Selling, general and administrative expenses	15,985	87%	10,395	68%
Total operating expenses	21,824	119%	14,102	92%
Loss from operations	(6,923)	(38)%	(2,772)	(18)%
Preferred stock interest expense	0	0%	(1,953)	(13)%
Interest income, net	552	4%	16	0%
Other income	73	0%	0	0%

Net loss available to common shareholders

\$ (6,298) (34)% \$ (4,709) (31)%

Revenues. Total revenue increased approximately \$3.1 million, or 20%, from approximately \$15.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2005 to approximately \$18.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2006. The increase was attributable to an increase of approximately 23% in the total number of disposable products sold domestically and internationally. This volume increase in disposable products sold contributed approximately \$3.8 million to the increase in revenues. While our average domestic selling price for disposable products remained relatively flat for the six months ended June 30, 2006 over the six months ended June 30, 2005, the increase in lower priced international units sold as a percentage of total units sold resulted in a decline in our overall average selling prices for the six months ended June 30, 2006 over the six months ended June 30, 2005. The decline in our worldwide average selling prices partially offset the overall revenue increase by approximately \$0.7 million.

Cost of revenues. Cost of revenues decreased approximately \$0.5 million, from approximately \$3.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2005 to approximately \$3.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2006 due to the approximately 36% decrease in our average cost per unit in the six months ended June 30, 2006 as compared to the

six months ended June 30, 2005. The decrease in our average cost per unit is a direct result of our third quarter 2005 acquisition of Enable, the manufacturer of our disposable products, partially offset by an increase in the total number of units sold. As a percentage of revenue, cost of revenue declined from approximately 26% for the six months ended June 30, 2005 to approximately 19% for the six months ended June 30, 2006.

Research and development expenses. Research and development expenses increased approximately \$2.1 million, from approximately \$3.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2005 to approximately \$5.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2006. The increase was primarily attributable to the addition of 16 full-time research and development personnel, including 13 former Enable employees, the expansion of our product development activities to increase our product offerings, and the expansion of our clinical trial activities. Our product development activities include projects to extend and improve the AtriCure bipolar ablation systems, develop our new left atrial appendage exclusion device, create new enabling devices and ablation tools and research for new technologies. As a percentage of total revenue, research and development expenses increased from approximately 24% for the six months ended June 30, 2005 to approximately 32% for the six months ended June 30, 2006. We anticipate a continued increase in overall research and development spending as a percentage of revenue for the remainder of 2006.

Selling, general and administrative expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses increased approximately \$5.6 million, from approximately \$10.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2005 to approximately \$16.0 million for the six months ended June 30, 2006. The increase was primarily attributable to increases in headcount-related charges of approximately \$3.3 million, increased marketing expenditures of approximately \$0.4 million, increases in other general corporate expenditures of approximately \$1.7 million. The increase in headcount-related charges was primarily attributable to the acquisition of Enable and the expansion of our sales and marketing organizations. As a percentage of total revenue, selling, general and administrative expenses increased from approximately 68% for the six months ended June 30, 2005 to approximately 87% for the six months ended June 30, 2006. Selling, general and administrative costs are expected to continue to increase in absolute dollars for the remainder of 2006 as a result of increased costs associated with sales and marketing efforts and the increase in costs associated with being a public company.

Preferred stock interest expense. Preferred stock interest expense decreased to zero from approximately \$2.0 million for the six months ended June 30, 2005. The decrease was attributable to the conversion of all shares of preferred stock into common stock upon the closing of our initial public offering on August 10, 2005.

Interest income, net. Interest income, net increased approximately \$536,000, from approximately \$16,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2005 to approximately \$552,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2006, due to the increase in cash and cash equivalents resulting from the proceeds of our August 2005 initial public offering. The increase was partially offset by the interest expense incurred as a result of an increase in our long-term debt.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Prior to our initial public offering, we financed our operations primarily through private sales of preferred stock, with aggregate net proceeds of approximately \$21.3 million of cash, excluding the conversion of approximately \$4.7 million of promissory notes.

In August 2005, we completed an initial public offering in which we received net proceeds, after deducting underwriting discounts, commissions and offering expenses, of approximately \$43.2 million from our sale and issuance of an aggregate of 4,150,000 shares of common stock, including 150,000 shares sold by us as part of the underwriters over-allotment option.

As of June 30, 2006, we had cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments of approximately \$25.0 million, long-term investments of approximately \$1.8 million and short-term and long-term debt of approximately \$1.2 million. We had working capital of approximately \$28.3 million and an accumulated deficit of approximately \$48.6 million as of June 30, 2006.

Cash flows used in operating activities. Net cash used in operations was approximately \$6.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2006 and \$2.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2005. For the six months ended June 30, 2006, the increase in net cash used in operating activities was attributable primarily to the net loss of approximately \$6.3 million and increases in accounts receivable and inventory of approximately \$0.7 million and

\$0.9 million, respectively, each as revenue increased, partially offset by an increase in other current assets of approximately \$0.3 million, depreciation and amortization of approximately \$0.9 million and non-cash charges related to stock-based compensation of approximately \$0.5 million. Net cash used in operations for the six months ended June 30, 2005 was primarily attributable to a net loss of approximately \$4.7 million and increases in accounts receivable and inventory of approximately \$0.7 million and \$0.5 million, respectively, partially offset by preferred stock interest of \$2.0 million, depreciation of \$0.6 million, non-cash charges related to stock-based compensation of \$0.3 million, increases in payables and accrued liabilities of \$0.2 million and an increase of \$0.1 million in other non-current assets and liabilities.

Cash flows used in investing activities. Net cash used in investing activities was approximately \$1.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2006 and \$1.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2005. For each of these periods, cash used in investing activities reflected purchases of property and equipment and, for the six months ended June 30, 2006, the purchases and maturities of approximately \$0.6 million of investments and, for the six months ended June 30, 2005, a \$0.5 million advance payment for a portion of the purchase price of Enable.

Cash flows used in and provided by financing activities. Cash flow used in financing activities was approximately \$145,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2006 and cash flow provided by financing activities was approximately \$19,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2005. For the six months ended June 20, 2006, cash flows used in financing activities reflected payments made on our debt and lease obligations partially offset by proceeds from exercises of stock options and warrants. For the six months ended June 30, 2005, cash flows provided by financing activities reflected payments ended June 30, 2005, cash flows provided by financing activities reflected payments ended June 30, 2005, cash flows provided by financing activities reflected proceeds from exercises of stock options.

Credit facility. We entered into a \$5.0 million credit facility on March 8, 2005 with Lighthouse Capital Partners V, L.P. for working capital requirements. Outstanding borrowings under the facility bear interest at the prime rate plus 1.75% and our ability to draw down funds under this facility terminated upon our initial public offering. Under the terms of the facility, we are required to pay any monthly installments of interest only through August 2005 and monthly installments of principal and interest thereafter, in addition to a fee due at maturity on September 1, 2009 equal to 15% of the aggregate amount borrowed under the credit facility, with prepayment in whole allowed at any time without penalty. As of June 30, 2006, there was approximately \$1.3 million outstanding under this facility, including approximately \$0.1 million for the fee due at maturity.

Uses of liquidity and capital resources. Our future capital requirements depend on a number of factors, including possible acquisitions and joint ventures, the rate of market acceptance of our current and future products, the resources we devote to developing and supporting our products, future expenses to expand and support our sales and marketing efforts, costs relating to changes in regulatory policies or laws that affect our operations and costs of filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcing our intellectual property rights. We expect to increase capital expenditures consistently with our anticipated growth in research and development, manufacturing, infrastructure and personnel.

We believe that our current cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash needs for working capital and capital expenditures for at least the next 12 months. If these sources of cash are insufficient to satisfy our liquidity requirements, we may seek to sell additional equity or debt securities or obtain a credit facility. The sale of additional equity or convertible debt securities could result in dilution to our stockholders. If additional funds are raised through the issuance of debt securities, these securities could have rights senior to those associated with our common stock and could contain covenants that would restrict our operations. Additional financing may not be available at all, or in amounts or terms acceptable to us. If we are unable to obtain this additional financing, we may be required to reduce the scope of our planned research and development and sales and marketing efforts.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

On July 18, 2006, we entered into an Agreement, effective as of June 6, 2005, with The Cleveland Clinic relating to our rights and obligations with respect to the publicly announced grants from the State of Ohio for, among other things, the creation of the Atrial Fibrillation Innovation Center.

Pursuant to the terms of the Agreement, we are required to supply personnel and materials to accomplish certain research-related activities in connection with the grant and, over a three-year period, we will receive up to a total of

approximately \$0.9 million for personnel and materials and The Cleveland Clinic will acquire up to approximately \$2.4 million in capital equipment for our use in support of our performance of the Agreement. Over the same three-year period, we are required to expend up to approximately \$7.7 million for operating expenses and up to approximately \$4.8 million for capital expenses at our facility in support of the Agreement, which amounts we believe represent ordinary course expenditures that we would have otherwise anticipated making. Under the terms of the agreement we may be required to spend up to \$2.7 million in the first year, \$4.4 million in the second year and \$5.4 million in the third year. The Agreement terminates on December 6, 2008. However, we and The Cleveland Clinic may terminate the Agreement at any time by giving 30 days prior written notice.

Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangements

As of June 30, 2006, we did not have any off-balance-sheet arrangements.

Seasonality

During the third quarter, we have experienced in prior years a decline in sales that we attribute to the elective nature of the procedures in which our products are typically used, which we believe arises from fewer people choosing to undergo elective procedures during the summer months.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, revenue and expenses, and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements. On a periodic basis, we evaluate our estimates, including those related to accounts receivable, inventories and stock-based compensation. We use authoritative pronouncements, historical experience and other assumptions as the basis for making estimates. Actual results could differ from those estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

We believe the following critical accounting policies affect our more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our financial statements.

Stock-Based Compensation. On January 1, 2006, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment, (SFAS 123(R)), which requires the measurement and recognition of compensation expense for all share-based payment awards made to employees and directors, including employee stock options and employee stock purchases related to an employee stock purchase plan, based on estimated fair values. Stock-based compensation expense recognized under SFAS 123(R) for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 was \$254,677 and \$470,692, respectively, on a before and after tax basis, which consisted of stock-based compensation expense related to employee stock options. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2005, we incurred charges for stock compensation for employees for options issued with exercise prices below market value. We recorded charges of approximately \$67,334 and \$125,484, which represents the portion pertaining to the three and six months ended June 30, 2005, respectively, based on the options vesting requirements. See Note 4 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

We estimate the fair value of options on date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Our determination of fair value of share-based payment awards on the date of grant using an option-pricing model is affected by our stock price, as well as assumptions regarding a number of highly complex and subjective variables. These variables include, but are not limited to, our expected stock price volatility over the term of the awards, and actual and projected employee stock option exercise behaviors. Due to our limited trading history, we used the implied volatility of a group of comparable companies, looking at both short and long-dated options in determining the our volatility. The weighted-average estimated fair value of options granted during the three and six months

ended June 30, 2006 was \$3.98 and \$4.16, respectively, and during the three and six months ended June 30, 2005 was \$3.06 and \$3.01, respectively, using the Black-Scholes model with the following assumptions:

	Three months	Three months ended June 30,		nded June 30,
	2006	2005	2006	2005
Risk free interest rates	1.00% to 5.14%	1.00% to 3.75%	1.00% to 5.14%	1.00% to 3.75%
Expected lives (years)	6	4	6	4
Expected volatility	38.06%	0.00%	38.06%	0.00%
Dividend yield	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%

The risk-free interest rate assumption is based upon the U.S. treasury yield curve at the time of grant.

Due to our limited trading history, we have chosen to use the simplified method for estimating the expected lives of options as allowed under the Securities and Exchange Commission issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107. Under this approach, the expected lives were calculated by taking the average of the vesting term and the original contract term.

Due to our limited trading history, we used the implied volatility of a group of comparable companies, looking at both short and long-dated options in determining our volatility.

If factors change and we employ different assumptions in the application of SFAS 123(R) in future periods, the compensation expense that we record under SFAS 123(R) may differ significantly from what we have recorded in the current period.

Revenue Recognition. Revenue is generated primarily from the sale of our disposable Isolator ablation clamps, the Isolator bipolar pen and the Wolf dissector. Pursuant to our standard sales terms, revenue is recognized when title to the goods and risk of loss transfer to customers and there are no remaining obligations that will affect the customer s final acceptance of the sale. Our standard sales terms define the transfer of title and risk of loss to occur upon shipment to the respective customer. We maintain no post-shipping obligations to the recipients of the products. No installation, calibration or testing of this equipment is performed by us subsequent to shipment to the customer in order to render it operational. Product revenue includes shipping revenue of approximately \$61,000 and \$36,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively and \$105,000 and \$69,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Cost of freight is included in cost of goods sold. We sell our products through a direct and indirect sales force and through AtriCure Europe, B.V., our wholly-owned subsidiary incorporated in the Netherlands. Sales terms are consistent for both end-users and distributors, with terms generally not exceeding 120 days. Customers and distributors generally have no right of return.

We comply with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101, Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements (SAB 101), as amended by SAB 104. SAB 101 sets forth guidelines on the timing of revenue recognition based upon factors such as passage of title, installation, payment terms and ability to return products. We recognize revenue when all of the following criteria are met: persuasive evidence that an arrangement exists; delivery of the products or services has occurred; the selling price is fixed or determinable; and collectibility is reasonable assured.

Allowance for Uncollectible Accounts Receivable. We periodically and systematically evaluate the collectibility of accounts receivable and determine the appropriate reserve for doubtful accounts. In determining the amount of the reserve, we consider historical credit losses, the past due status of the receivables, and other customer-specific information, and any other relevant factors or considerations.

Inventory Valuation. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market using the first-in, first-out, or FIFO, cost method and consist of raw materials, work in process and finished goods. Reserves are estimated for excess, slow-moving and obsolete inventory, as well as inventory with a carrying value in excess of its net realizable value. Write-offs are recorded when the product is destroyed. We review inventory on hand at least quarterly and record provisions for excess and obsolete inventory based on several factors including current assessment of future product demand, anticipated release of new products into the market, historical experience and product expiration. Our industry is characterized by rapid product development and frequent new product introductions. Uncertain timing of product approvals, variability in product launch strategies, product recalls and variation in product utilization all impact the estimates related to excess and obsolete inventory.

Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowance. Our estimate for the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets requires us to make significant estimates and judgments about our future operating results. Our ability to realize the deferred tax assets depends on our future taxable income, as well as limitations on their utilization. A deferred tax asset is reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax asset will not be realized prior to its expiration. The projections of our operating results on which the establishment of a valuation allowance is based involve significant estimates regarding future demand for our products, competitive

conditions, product development efforts, approvals of regulatory agencies, and product cost. If actual results differ from these projections, or if our expectations of future results change, it may be necessary to adjust the valuation allowance.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 155, Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments-an amendment of FASB Statements No. 133 and 140. This Standard amends SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities and SFAS 140 Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities. The provisions of this Standard are effective for financial instruments acquired, issued, or subject to a remeasurement event occurring after the beginning of an entity s first fiscal year that begins after September 15, 2006. The adoption of SFAS No. 155 is not expected to have a material impact on our financial statements.

In July 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48 (FIN 48), Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes which prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement process for recording in the financial statements uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. Additionally, FIN 48 provides criteria for subsequently recognizing, derecognizing and measuring changes in uncertain tax positions and requires expanded disclosure with respect to the uncertainty of income taxes. The accounting provisions of FIN 48 will be effective for us beginning January 1, 2007 with the cumulative effect of the change in accounting principle recorded as an adjustment to opening retained earnings. We are in the process of determining the effect, if any, the adoption of FIN 48 will have on our financial statements.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We do not utilize derivative financial instruments, derivative commodity instruments or other market risk sensitive instruments, positions or transactions. We are exposed to various market risks, which are potential losses arising from adverse changes in market rates and prices, such as foreign exchange fluctuations and interest rates.

To the extent that for the six months ended June 30, 2006 sales of our products sold by AtriCure Europe BV were denominated in Euros, we have exposure to exchange rate fluctuations between the Euro and the U.S. dollar. The effect of the foreign exchange rate fluctuations on our financial results for the six-month period ended June 30, 2006 was not material.

For sales denominated in Euros, if there is an increase in the rate at which the Euro is exchanged for U.S. dollars, it will require more Euros to equal a specified amount of U.S. dollars than before the rate increase. In such cases and if we price our products in the Euro, we will receive less in U.S. dollars than we did before the rate increase went into effect. If we price our products in U.S. dollars and competitors price their products in the Euro, an increase in the relative strength of the U.S. dollar could result in our price not being competitive in a market where business is transacted in the Euro.

Although substantially all of our sales and purchases are currently denominated in U.S. dollars, future fluctuations in the value of the U.S. dollar may affect the price competitiveness of our products outside the United States.

We invest our excess cash primarily in U.S. government securities, corporate bonds and commercial paper. Accordingly, we believe that, while the instruments we hold are subject to changes in the financial standing of the issuer of such securities, we are not subject to any material risks arising from changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates, commodity prices, equity prices or other market changes that affect market risk sensitive instruments.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC s rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, as appropriate, to allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure

controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.

As required by SEC Rule 13a-15(b), an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and Rule 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) as of the end of the period covered by this report was carried out under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer. Based on that evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective at the reasonable assurance level to ensure that material information relating to us, is made known to them, particularly during the period in which this report was prepared, in order to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

During the six-month period ended June 30, 2006, there has not occurred any change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and Rule 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

We are not party to any material pending or threatened litigation, except as described below:

Life Support Technology LST B.V.

In January 2006 Life Support Technology LST B.V., a former distributor of our products in Europe, filed an action against us in Den Bosch, Netherlands and in February, 2006 LST also filed an action against our subsidiary, AtriCure Europe, B.V. in The Hague, Netherlands in the Kort Geding (a summary injunction proceeding wherein preliminary relief is demanded). On March 28, 2006, the case against our subsidiary was summarily dismissed. On July 19, 2006, we presented an Incidental Statement arguing that the court before which the case is currently pending does not have jurisdiction over the matter and, even if such court should conclude that it does indeed have jurisdiction, such court should stay the proceedings in such case until the case pending in the United States relating to such matter has been decided. We expect that a decision with respect to this jurisdiction question will be issued no later than January 2007.

We and LST were party to a distribution agreement, dated January 1, 2004. Each of LST s summonses allege that we, on behalf of AtriCure Europe, and LST reached an agreement, which would succeed a January 1, 2004 agreement, pursuant to which LST agreed to continue distributing our products in certain European countries. The summonses allege that, in addition to the value for LST of a continued distributorship, such agreement would have provided an additional \$330,000 to LST and its principal, J.L.M. Marinus. We believe that neither we nor our subsidiary reached such an agreement with LST and that the original distribution agreement with LST was terminated as of December 31, 2005. We intend to defend these lawsuits vigorously.

Pursuant to our January 1, 2004 distribution agreement with LST, certain of LST s obligations survive termination of that agreement. Such obligations include, among other things, the timely payment for equipment purchased and the return of all materials (such as marketing literature and sales and promotional materials) supplied by us to LST. In March 2006, we filed a complaint in Ohio State Court (Butler County, Ohio Court of Common Pleas) against LST claiming that LST has not complied with these obligations and we are seeking damages which, due to Ohio pleading limitations, are alleged to be more than \$25,000 but which, in fact, we believe are in an amount in excess of \$185,000. On April 21, 2006, LST filed its answer to our complaint and asserted counterclaims that contain similar claims to the claims it made in the action it filed against us in the Netherlands, described above. We have filed our response to the counterclaims and discovery has been scheduled but no discovery has yet been conducted.

We may from time to time become a party to additional legal proceedings.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

In addition to the other information set forth in this report, you should carefully consider the factors discussed in Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors in our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005, all of which could materially affect our business, financial condition or future results. These described risks are not the only risks facing us. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial also may adversely affect our business, financial condition and/or operating results.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

(a) Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

None.

(b) Initial Public Offering and Use of Proceeds from the Sale of Registered Securities

We registered the initial public offering of our common stock, par value \$.001 per share, on a Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (Registration No. 333-124197), which was declared effective on August 4, 2005. On August 10, 2005, we consummated an initial public offering of 4.6 million shares of our common stock at \$12.00 per share, which included the underwriters exercise of their over-allotment option on August 9, 2005 to purchase 600,000 shares of our common stock, of which 450,000 shares were sold by selling shareholders and 150,000 shares were sold by us. Gross proceeds from the offering were \$49.8 million. We did not receive any proceeds from the sale of the 450,000 shares of common stock that were sold by selling shareholders. Net proceeds to us from the offering, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of approximately \$3.5 million and offering expenses of approximately \$3.1 million, were approximately \$43.2 million.

During the six months ended June 30, 2006, we spent approximately \$0.4 million of the proceeds from the offering toward our obligations under a development and license agreement, approximately \$0.6 million for the purchase of property and equipment, approximately \$0.6 million on the purchases of investment securities, approximately \$0.2 million on payments on long-term debt and approximately \$5.8 million on other research and development activities and selling, general and administrative expenditures. Pending use of the remaining net proceeds of the offering, we intend to invest such proceeds in a variety of capital preservation investments, including short-term, investment-grade, interest-bearing instruments. The use of proceeds does not represent a material change from the use of proceeds described in the prospectus relating to the Registration Statement.

No offering expenses were paid directly or indirectly to any of our directors or officers (or their associates) or persons owning ten percent or more of our equity securities or to any other affiliates except for payments made to Epstein, Becker & Green P.C., our corporate counsel, for legal fees and expenses incurred in connection with the offering. Theodore L. Polin, our corporate secretary, is a shareholder of Epstein, Becker & Green P.C. Other than those legal fees and expenses, all offering expenses were paid directly to third parties who were not our directors or officers (or their associates), persons owning ten percent or more of our equity securities or any other affiliate.

(c) Repurchases of Equity Securities

None.

Item 4: Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

We held our Annual Meeting of Stockholders on June 21, 2006. The following is a brief description of each matter voted upon at the meeting and the number of votes cast for, withheld, or against, the number of abstentions and the number of broker non-votes with respect to each matter. The nine directors proposed by management for re-election were elected to new, one-year terms by the following vote:

Director Name David J. Drachman	Shares Voted For 11,238,680	Shares Withheld 44,851
Donald C. Harrison, M.D.	11,271,684	11,847
Michael D. Hooven	11,229,588	53,943

Richard M. Johnston	11,272,334	11,197
Elizabeth D. (Jacobson) Krell, Ph.D.	11,273,334	10,197
Mark R. Lanning, C.P.A.	11,273,234	10,297
Gene R. McGrevin	11,210,496	73,035
Karen P. Robards	11,237,159	46,372
Lee R. Wrubel, M.D.	11,209,946	73,585

The stockholders approved the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2006: shares voted for: 11,256,202; shares voted against: 24,962; and shares abstaining: 2,367.

Item 6. Exhibits

Exhibit

No. 10.1*	Description Agreement, dated as of July 18, 2006, by and between AtriCure, Inc. and The Cleveland Clinic.
31.1	Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2	Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.1	Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 by the Chief Executive Officer, as adopted, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.2	Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 by the Chief Financial Officer, as adopted, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

* Incorporated by reference to the Exhibit bearing the same number to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 20, 2006.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit No.	Description
10.1*	Agreement, dated as of July 18, 2006, by and between AtriCure, Inc. and The Cleveland Clinic.
31.1	Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2	Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.1	Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 by the Chief Executive Officer, as adopted, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.2	Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 by the Chief Financial Officer, as adopted, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

* Incorporated by reference to the Exhibit bearing the same number to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 20, 2006.